NO. 46012-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

NICHOLAS THOMPSON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**John A. Hays, No. 16654
Attorney for Appellant**

**1402 Broadway
Suite 103
Longview, WA 98632
(360) 423-3084**

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

1. The defendant's convictions should be reversed and the charges dismissed with prejudice because the trial court violated the defendant's statutory right to speedy trial.

2. The trial court erred when it denied the defendant's motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3 because the state's egregious misconduct in taking a letter from the defendant containing confidential communications to the defendant's attorney caused prejudice.

3. The trial court denied the defendant his right to be present at trial when it banished him from the courtroom for the final three days of trial without informing the defendant that he could return if he conducted himself appropriately.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Should a defendant's convictions be reversed and the charges dismissed with prejudice if the trial court violated the defendant's statutory right to speedy trial and failed to ensure that the defendant's case was brought to trial within the time required under the rule?

2. Does a trial court err if it denies a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3 if the defendant proves (1) egregious governmental misconduct that (2) caused prejudice to that defendant's case?

3. Does a trial court deny a defendant the right under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, to be present at trial if it banishes him from the courtroom for the final three days of trial without informing that defendant that he may return if he conducts himself appropriately?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

On the evening of December 7, 2012, Arnold Hendrickson, Jr., known as “AJ,” and five of his high school friends went to a high school basketball game. RP 61-66, 224-226, 264-266, 301-307, 364-370, 397-400.¹ His friends were Ryan Gault, Kaleb Keys, Joshua Wilson, Lauren Pinch and Xuanmai Vo. *Id.* At half-time they decided to leave the game and go to Costco for Pizza. *Id.* At that point they called their parents and told them that they were going to a movie. *Id.* However, after calling their parents they changed their minds as there were no movies they wanted to see and they didn’t have enough money to buy everyone tickets. *Id.* At that point they decided to go to an apartment Xuanmai’s sister shared with her boyfriend at a large apartment complex at 1309 Fern Street SW in Olympia. *Id.*

Once up in the apartment the six friends searched for a movie to watch, began drinking alcohol and then played a drinking game. RP 63-69, 233-236, 264-268, 301-307, 364-372, 397-419. By about 11:30 the six left the apartment to go home. *Id.* Once out in the parking lot, which was fairly dark, Lauren started her car to warm it up and Xuanmai got in the front

¹The record on appeal includes six volumes of continuously numbered verbatim reports of the jury trial, along with six other volumes of pretrial and post-trial hearings. The trial volumes are referred to herein as “RP [page #].” The other verbatim reports are referred to herein as “RP [date] [page #].”

passenger seat to talk to Lauren. RP 73-74, 273-274. Ryan went to warm up the truck. RP 69, 239-240. AJ, Kaleb and Josh stood outside Lauren's car and talked with each other and the two girls through the open door as the car warmed up. *Id.* As they were talking a man they later identified as the defendant walked up out of the dark, pulled a 9mm pistol and ordered them to give him their possessions. RP 69-73, 273-275. AJ, Kaleb and Josh responded by handing over a backpack and other items on their persons. *Id.* At about this time Lauren and Xuanmai looked up, saw the defendant and the gun. RP 377-381, 420-422. In response they closed and locked their doors. RP 77-79; 381-385.

While AJ, Kaleb and Josh were handing over their possessions Ryan walked up and saw the defendant and the gun. RP 77-79, 239-242. The defendant then ordered Ryan to hand over his possessions, which he did. *Id.* At this point the defendant put the pistol back in his waistband, placed the items he had collected on the ground and started looking through them. RP 73-76. The defendant then stood up and told them repeatedly that he "needed" the car. RP 77-79. When he said this he pulled out the pistol and started knocking on the driver's side window with it. RP 428-430. Although AJ, Kaleb and Lauren do not remember whether or not the defendant used the gun to knock on the window, Xuanmai did remember the defendant using the gun to rap on the window. RP 77-79, 280-281, 428-430.

When Lauren and Xuanmai did not respond AJ began to worry that the defendant would shoot them. RP 79-80. As a result he placed himself between the defendant and the two girls and told him he couldn't take the car. RP 80-82. The defendant responded by hitting AJ in the face, knocking him back, and pulling the action back on the pistol. RP 80-84, 280-284. Seeing this AJ thought the defendant was putting a round in the chamber to shoot him. RP 80-84. AJ responded by jumping forward and grappling with the defendant trying to get the pistol from him. RP 83-84, 281-284. At about this time Lauren quickly backed her car up and drove out of the parking lot and down the street with Xuanmai. RP 289-392, 429-430. As they were driving away AJ, still grappling with the defendant, heard three shots in fairly short succession. *Id.* The third shot hit AJ in the abdomen, causing him to fall to the ground in a great deal of pain. RP 83-84, 89, 286-288.

At about the time the defendant was telling AJ, Kaleb and Josh that he needed the car Ryan was able to back into the dark, return to the truck and call 911. RP 244-245. He then heard the shots and ran over to find AJ on the ground. RP 245-249, 336-339. A short distance away the defendant was on the ground with Kaleb and Josh on top of him. *Id.* In fact, prior to jumping on the defendant Kaleb saw the gun on the ground and threw it away from them. RP 286-288. When Ryan ran up he helped detain the defendant until the police arrived. RP 245-249, 336-339. Josh also broke away long enough

to also call 911. RP 338-339. Before the police arrived a man without a shirt ran up, found the pistol, unloaded it, put the round from the chamber and the clip in his pocket and set the pistol down where he found it. RP 436-448. That man then also helped restrain the defendant. RP 448

After five or ten minutes the police and aide crews arrived. RP 469-474, 481-487, 523-528, 596. The police took the defendant into custody, retrieved the pistol, started a crime scene investigation and eventually took statements from everyone present except AJ. *Id.* In fact the aide crew had taken AJ by ambulance to a local hospital where he underwent emergency surgery to remove a 9 mm bullet from his abdomen. RP 506-517, 759-764. Although the shot had caused a significant amount of tissue damage it did not go through any internal organs. RP 513-517. AJ was in the hospital for two days and took five or six months to recover completely. RP 89-92.

Procedural History

By information filed December 12, 2012, and later twice amended, the Thurston County Prosecutor charged the defendant Nicholas Bostrom Thompson with seven felonies as follows:

Count I: first degree robbery against Ryan Gault while armed with a firearm;

Count II: first degree robbery against Arnold Hendrickson while armed with a firearm;

Count III: first degree robbery against Kaleb Keys while armed

with a firearm;

Count IV: first degree robbery against Joshua Wilson while armed with a firearm;

Count V: first degree unlawful possession of a firearm;

Count VI: first degree assault against Arnold Hendrickson while armed with a firearm; and

Count VII: possession of a stolen firearm.

CP 6-8, 230-232, 238-240.

On December 26, 2012, the defendant appeared with his court-appointed attorney for arraignment, at which time the court set a trial date for the week of February 19, 2013. CP 10-11. The defendant remained in custody for the entirety of these proceedings. CP 11, 255. On January 28, 2013, the court granted a motion from the defendant's attorney to continue the trial date to March 11, 2013. RP 1/28/13 1-8. The defendant was present at that time, refused to sign a speedy trial waiver and objected to any continuance of the trial date. *Id.*

On February 11, 2013, the court reset the trial date to May 27, 2013, again with the defendant objecting. CP 16-17. On April 23, 2013, the court again reset the trial date over the defendant's objection, this time to August 5, 2013. CP 19-20. One month later on May 29, 2013, the defendant filed a *pro se* "Motion Requesting Court of Compel Defense to Comply with Defendant's Requests." CP 23-46. Specifically, the defendant objected to

the violation of his right to speedy trial, as well as his attorney's refusal to take steps in the preparation of the case that the defendant wanted. *Id.* On June 10, 2013, the defendant filed a *pro se* Motion for a Bill of Particulars and a *pro se* Motion to Dismiss for Speedy Trial Violations under CrR 3.3 and a Motion to Dismiss for Governmental Misconduct under CrR 8.3. CP 52-55, 56-72.

One month later on June 28, 2013, the defendant filed two additional *pro se* motions: (1) "Motion Supplemental Information for Motion to Dismiss under 3.3, 3.3(h) Speedy Trial Rights Violation & Under 8.3(g) Governmental Misconduct; and (2) "Motion - Denial of Access to the Courts, Denial of Effective Assistance of Counsel, Violations of Due Process, and Governmental Misconduct." CP 76-80, 81-82, 83-87, and 88-99. The defendant thereafter filed (1) a *pro se* "Notice Demanding for Additional Discovery," (2) a lengthy letter to the court complaining about ineffective assistance of counsel, and (3) a "Motion Regarding Prosecutorial/Governmental Misconduct, Re-Denial of Access to the Courts and Due Process." CP 102-105, 108- 112, 118-127.

On August 15, 2013, the parties appeared before the court, at which time the defendant said that he did not want to proceed *pro se*. RP 8/15/13 1-11. Rather, the defendant stated that he wanted the court to hear and rule on his motions. *Id.* On September 5, 2013, the parties again appeared before

the court, at which time the defendant orally moved to dismiss. RP 9/5/13 22-25. The court then granted a motion to withdraw by defendant's attorney and assigned a new attorney to represent the defendant. RP 9/5/12, 27-56.

Defendant's new attorney later filed a Motion to Dismiss under both CrR 3.3 and CrR 3.8. CP 199-211. These motions came on for hearing on January 13, 2014, at which time the defendant called three witnesses: Larry Corbin, Jesse Lee Harkcom and the defendant Nicholas Thompson. RP 1/13/14, 5-28, 28-45, 45-56. The substance of this testimony was that on March 9, 2013, personnel from the Thurston County Jail performed a routine search of the defendant's cell, found a letter the defendant had written and addressed to his attorney setting out confidential information about the defendant's case, and setting out detailed trial strategy. *Id.* The jailers who found this document then took two pages from the letter and kept them. *Id.* According to the defendant he thereafter refrained from any written communication with his attorney based upon his belief that Thurston County Jail Personnel would again take his confidential legal communications with his attorney. RP 1/13/14 45-56.

After the defendant called his witnesses the state called two jail guards to the stand. RP 1/13/14 56-85, 85-95. The substance of their testimony was that (1) there had been a routine search of the defendant's cell on March 9th, along with all other cells in the pod, and (2) they were unaware

of any guard taking any legal papers from the defendant. *Id.* Following this testimony and argument by counsel the court denied the motion, ruling that even assuming misconduct, which the court did not find, there was no evidence of prejudice and no argument that dismissal would be the only appropriate remedy. RP 1/13/14, 107-110.

On January 29, 2014, over 13 months after arraignment and about two weeks after denying the motions to dismiss, the court called this case for trial before a jury. RP 1. At the beginning of trial the court allowed the jail personnel to outfit the defendant with a single leg brace worn under his pants. RP 16-22. The defense did not object. *Id.* The parties then proceeded with *voir dire*, opening statements and the state's first witness. RP 1-103.

On the morning of the second day of trial jail personnel informed the trial judge that the defendant was refusing to come to court because they had denied his request to shave. RP 109-111. The court then held a hearing over a video feed, after which the jail personnel brought the defendant to court in a restraint chair. RP 153-157. During that hearing the court repeatedly asked the defendant (1) whether or not the defendant wanted to attend the trial and (2) whether or not the defendant would behave himself in court. 153-157. The defendant refused to answer any questions and the court had him returned to the jail. *Id.* The defendant's attorney then met with him and informed the trial judge that the defendant wanted to attend court for the

remainder of the day in a restraint chair. RP 130, 162.

At this point in the trial the court heard testimony from two jail guards. RP 164-176, 176-177. They indicated that the defendant had told them that the only way he would attend the trial was in a restraint chair. RP 174-175, 176-177. The court refused to allow the defendant to attend court in that manner. RP 178-180. The court then called the jury in and the state called four more witnesses and started on its fifth witness before adjourning for the day without the presence of the defendant. RP 180- 315.

On the morning of the fourth day of trial the court instructed the jail personnel to inform the court that he was free to attend the trial but not in a restraint chair. RP 315. The defendant thereafter appeared in court and the state proceeded with its case-in-chief. RP 322-600. On the morning of the fourth day of trial jail personnel informed the court that there had been an incident the preceding night during which the defendant armed himself with a broken broom handle and had to be taken out of his cell by an extraction team using a taser. RP 650-666. Based upon this evidence the jail personnel requested authorization to place a stun device under the defendant's clothing. *Id.* The court granted the request. *Id.* The state then called its first witnesses for the day, who was an Emergency Room Physician who had helped treat Mr. Hendrickson. RP 677. However, when the state asked its first question, the defendant yelled out "This is all a bunch of fucking lies! This is bullshit!

This is fucking crazy, man!” RP 677-678. Jail personnel then subdued the defendant and the jury was escorted out of the courtroom. *Id.*

Following the defendant’s outburst the court had the defendant removed to the jail and later returned in belly chains. RP 687. The court then discussed the matter with the parties and ultimately decided that the defendant would be taken to another courtroom where he could attend the trial over a video feed. RP 715-744. The defendant attended the last three days of trial via video. RP 744, 795, 818, 931, 1020, 1079, 1086.

Following the close of the state’s case the court had the defendant returned to the courtroom outside the presence of the jury, at which time the defendant stated that he did not want to testify. RP 945. The court then had the defendant returned to the room with the video feed. RP 1020. The court also dismissed Count VII (theft of a firearm) upon the state’s motion. RP 933. The defense then closed its case without calling any witnesses and the court instructed the jury without objection from the parties. RP 949-981. Following closing argument the jury retired for deliberation and returned the following verdicts:

Count I: not guilty of first degree robbery against Ryan Gault but guilty of the lesser included offense of attempted first degree robbery against Ryan Gault;

Count II: guilty of first degree robbery against Arnold Hendrickson;

Count III: guilty of first degree robbery against Kaleb Keys;

Count IV: guilty of first degree robbery against Joshua Wilson;

Count V: guilty of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm;

Count VI: guilty of first degree assault against Arnold Hendrickson.

RP 1086-1089; CP 351-320.

The jury also returned special verdicts that the defendant had committed each of these offenses (1) while armed with a firearm (except Count V), and (2) shortly after being released from incarceration. CP 321-331. Based upon the later aggravator the court imposed 489 months on the first degree assault charge on a range of 240 to 318 months. CP 378-379. The court then ran this sentence concurrent with standard range sentences on the other charges. *Id.* With the firearms enhancements added (four 60 month and one 36 month) this yielded a total sentence of 765 months in prison. CP 181. The defendant thereafter filed timely notice of appeal. CP 388.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS SHOULD BE REVERSED AND THE CHARGES DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S STATUTORY RIGHT TO SPEEDY TRIAL.

Under CrR 3.3(b), the time for trial for a person held in jail is “60 days after the commencement date specified in this rule,” or “the time specified under subsection (b)(5).” CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i)&(ii). “initial commencement date” under CrR 3.3(c)(1) is “the date of arraignment as determined under CrR 4.1.” Under CrR 3.3(h), “[a] criminal charge not brought to trial within the time period provided by this rule shall be dismissed with prejudice.” CrR 3.3(h). The purpose of CrR 3.3 is to prevent undue and oppressive incarceration prior to trial. *State v. Kingen*, 39 Wn.App. 124, 692 P.2d 215 (1984).

Under CrR 3.3(f)(2), the trial court may grant a motion to continue a trial to a specific date outside of the time limits for speedy trial upon a showing of good cause if such continuance is “required in the administration of justice” and it will not prejudice the defendant. This section states:

(f) Continuances. Continuances or other delays may be granted as follows:

(2) Motion by the Court or a Party. On motion of the court or a party, the court may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the

defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense. The motion must be made before the time for trial has expired. The court must state on the record or in writing the reasons for the continuance. The bringing of such motion by or on behalf of any party waives that party's objection to the requested delay.

CrR 3.3(f)(2).

While the trial court bears the responsibility for assuring a defendant's right to speedy trial under this rule, the decision whether or not to grant a continuance beyond the time required under CrR 3.3 lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will only be overruled upon an abuse of that discretion. *State v. Nguyen*, 131 Wn.App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs "when the trial court's decision is arbitrary or rests on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *State v. Lawrence*, 108 Wn.App. 226, 31 P.3d 1198 (2001).

For example, in *State v. Nguyen, supra*, a defendant was convicted of a home invasion robbery following a trial outside the time for speedy trial. The court set the trial outside the speedy trial rule upon the state's motion that it needed more time to gather more information about some "related" home invasion robberies. In fact the state had no evidence linking the defendant or his offense to the other defendants and the other cases. Rather, the state believed that further investigation might potentially link the cases. Following conviction the defendant appealed, arguing that the trial court had abused its discretion when it granted the state's motion to continue.

In addressing the defendant's arguments the Court of Appeals first acknowledged that separate trials for multiple defendant's charged with the same offenses were not favored at the law. Thus, it would well be within the trial court's discretion to exceed one defendant's speedy trial rights in order to facilitate a joint trial. However, the court went on to note that where the various defendants were not charged jointly and where there was no evidence to link the various similar offenses, it would be an abuse of discretion to exceed one defendant's speedy trial rights to allow the police more time to search for "potential" connections among the cases. The court held:

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