IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

NICHOLAS THOMPSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christine Schaller, Judge Cause No. 12-1-01701-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by continuing the trial date, over Thompson's objection, more than 60 days beyond the arraignment date.

A reviewing court will not disturb an order granting a trial continuance "absent a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion." State v. Cannon, 130 Wn.2d 313, 326, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996). Whether a court correctly applied CrR 3.3 is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Lackey, 153 Wn. App. 791, 798, 223 p.3d 1215 (2009). Ruling on a motion to continue is discretionary with a judge because it involves "such disparate elements as surprise, diligence, materiality, redundancy, due process, and the maintenance of orderly procedures." State v. Eller, 84 Wn.2d 90, 95, 524 P.2d 242 (1974).

A defendant being detained in jail must be brought to trial within 60 days of the "commencement date," which is usually the date of arraignment. CrR 3.3(b)(1). Periods of time excluded from this 60-day limit include those required by the administration of justice so long as the continuance will not prejudice the defendant's presentation of his case. CrR(e)(3), (f)(2). If a period is excluded, then "the allowable time for trial shall not expire earlier than 30 days after the end of that excluded period." CrR 3.3(b)(5). Thus, each

excluded period brings with it a 30-day extension of the speedy trial deadline. See CrR 3.3(b)(5).

CrR 3.3 is not constitutionally based. <u>State v. Hall</u>, 55 Wn. App. 834, 841, 780 P.2d 1337 (1989). Thompson has not claimed a constitutional violation. Continuances granted within the speedy trial time are not violations of the rule; dismissal is required only when the speedy trial period has expired. Unless that is the case, the defendant must demonstrate "actual prejudice" before his case will be dismissed. <u>Id</u>. Thompson has not claimed any prejudice, and none is apparent from the record.

Thompson's arraignment occurred on December 26, 2012. A trial date was set for February 19, 2013, within the 60 day time limit. On January 28, 2013, defense counsel requested a continuance. O1/28/13 RP 4-5. The court agreed to a shorter continuance than requested and a new trial date was set for March 11, 2013. This carried with it a 30-day extension period, so the last day for trial was April 11, 2013. CP 15, 01/28/13 RP 7, 10. Defense counsel made the request because his investigator had just begun working on the case, the defendant was charged with four class A felonies, all with deadly weapon enhancements, and he could not be ready to try the case by the trial date of February

19. 01/28/13 RP 4-5. The State agreed that it was a complex case because there were multiple victims and further that medical reports were still coming in, some of which had not yet been provided to the defense. 01/28/13 RP 6. Thompson objected. 01/28/13 RP 9. Over his objection, the court continued the trial date to March 11, 2013, because defense counsel needed more time for preparation. 01/28/13 RP 9.

On February 11, 2013, before the time for trial expired, the trial was continued to May 27, 2013, with speedy trial expiring on June 26, 2013. The defendant objected. CP 16. Thompson has not provided a transcript of this hearing and there is nothing in the record indicating the reason for that continuance. On April 23, again before the time for trial expired, another continuance was entered, setting the trial for the week of August 5, 2013, with speedy trial expiring on September 4, 2013. Thompson again objected, CP 19, but again he provides no transcript and there is no record before this court of the reasons for this continuance.

On July 8, 2013, again before the speedy trial time expired, defense counsel moved to continue the trial to the week of September 23, 2103. Thompson objected. 07/08/13 RP 5-7. Defense counsel told the court he had interviewed all of the

witnesses but transcriptions had not yet been done. In addition, Thompson had indicated a wish to pursue a diminished capacity defense and although counsel did not believe it was a viable defense, had agreed to have a forensic psychologist interview Thompson. Counsel also disagreed with some of the issues Thompson wanted to litigate, concluding they were not relevant to the case. However, Thompson was adamant that counsel argue those motions; counsel was unavailable to do so before the trial date of August 5. 07/08/13 RP 5-6, 8. Based upon counsel's representation about the seriousness of the case and Thompson's desire to investigate a diminished capacity defense, and finding that the defendant would not be prejudiced, the court continued the trial date to September 23, 2013. 07/08/13 RP 10; CP 101.

On August 1, 2013, the court addressed several motions that Thompson filed pro se. Another attorney stood in for Thompson's trial counsel at this hearing, and that attorney asked that the hearing be stricken so that trial counsel could note the motions if he believed they were appropriate. Thompson did not provide his attorney with notice of this hearing. The court continued the matters one week. 08/01/13 RP 4-7. Apparently, when the matter was called on August 8, he struck the motion, having changed his

mind about representing himself. On August 12 he again moved to proceed pro se, and his motion was set for hearing on August 15. 09/05/13 RP 42. On August 15, 2013, Thompson did not wish to proceed with that motion. 08/15/13 RP 6, 9, 11.

On September 5, 2013, still within the speedy trial time, defense counsel moved to withdraw. Thompson had made it plain to counsel that he held counsel responsible in part for what he perceived as a violation of his speedy trial right. 09/05/13 RP 30. Thompson was upset because he claimed not to have seen all of the discovery and he had a list of perceived failures on the part of his attorney. Id. at 31-35. Pro se, he asked for his case to be dismissed. Id at 36. He believed he had been forced to agree to continuances—even though he had objected every time—in order to be represented by a prepared attorney. Id. at 37. When asked if he preferred to keep the current trial date of September 23, or get a new lawyer who would need additional preparation time, he refused to make a choice. Id. at 38. Defense counsel advised the court that within the last two to three weeks his relationship with Thompson had deteriorated to the point where he believed he could not adequately represent Thompson. Id. at 40.

The court found good cause to permit defense counsel to withdraw. 09/05/13 RP 48-50. That required setting a new trial date, to permit new counsel to prepare for trial, as well as another prosecutor to become familiar with the case, since the current prosecutor would shortly be going on maternity leave. Id. at 51-52. A new trial date was set for November 4, 2014, within 60 days. CP 158; 09/05/13 RP 54.

The new defense attorney apparently requested a continuance of the trial date. No transcript has been provided, but an order was issued on October 21, 2013, resetting the trial for January 27, 2014. That order reflected that speedy trial expired on February 27, 2014. CP 175. Trial began on January 28, 2014. Trial RP, Volume 1.

At no time did the time for trial expire before a new date was set, and Thompson does not claim that it did. His argument is that the court granted continuances without a justifiable reason, thus abusing its discretion.

On motion of the court or a party, the court may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense. The motion must be made before the time for trial has expired. The court must state on the record or in writing the

reasons for the continuance. The bringing of such motion by or on behalf of any party waives that party's objection to the requested delay.

CrR 3.3(f)(2).

In those instances where Thompson has provided a transcript of the hearing regarding the continuance, the court has found that the continuance was necessary for the administration of justice, and either expressly found or implied that the defendant would not be prejudiced. 01/28/13 RP 9, 07/08/13 RP 10, 09/05/13 RP 48-50. An appellant bears the burden of providing an adequate record on appeal. Story v. Shelter Bay Company, 52 Wn. App. 334, 345, 760 P.2d 368 (1988). A reviewing court may not speculate about the existence of facts if they are not in the record. State v. Blight, 89 Wn.2d 38, 46, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977). Thompson has not produced the record regarding the remaining continuances and this court cannot speculate that the court failed to make the necessary findings. He has made no showing that the trial court abused its discretion in granting any of the continuances.

All of the motions for continuance for which Thompson does provide the record were made by defense counsel. 09/05/13 RP 8.

A motion made on behalf of a party waives that party's objection to the continuance. This waiver applies even where, as here, the

defendant personally objects to a continuance requested by defense counsel on his behalf. <u>State v. Ollivier</u>, 178 Wn.2d 813, 824-25, 312 P.3d 1 (2013).

Thompson cites to State v. Nguyen, 131 Wn. App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006), to support his argument that the trial court here abused its discretion in granting continuances. In that case. however, the court had continued the defendant's trial on the State's motion, representing that there were similar crimes being But there was never any evidence connecting investigated. Nguyen to those crimes and he was never charged with them. In Thompson's case, however, his trial was continued because his attorney needed additional time to prepare, 01/28/13 RP 5; the charges were serious and the defendant was facing what amounted to life in prison, 07/08/13 RP 5; the defendant wanted to litigate numerous pro se motions as well as pursue a diminished capacity defense, 07/08/13 RP 8, 09/05/13 RP 10; Thompson was ambivalent about proceeding pro se, 08/01/13 RP 4-5, 08/15/13 RP 7, 9; the case was complicated, involving more than 450 pages of discovery, 09/05/13 RP 8, 50; and counsel was dealing with a client who wanted him to stay on the case but do everything Thompson demanded of him, even if it made no sense. 09/05/13 RP 34-35.

By September 5, 2013, Thompson had filed so many pro se motions that the court couldn't sort them out. 09/05/13 RP 5. A trial court need not hear pro se motions filed by a represented defendant. State v. Hightower, 36 Wn. App. 536, 540-43, 676 P.2d 1016, review denied, 101 Wn.2d 1013 (1984). Nevertheless, the court in this instance did hear at least some of Thompson's pro se motions. It denied his motion to dismiss for violation of the speedy trial rule. 09/05/13 RP 36. It appears that at least some of the delay in bringing this case to trial resulted from Thompson's own illadvised attempts to litigate his case while still being represented by counsel. There is no authority for the position that a defendant may cause disruptions in the progress of his case, causing delays of the trial, and then complain that he did not receive a trial within 60 days of arraignment.

Thompson discounts his trial counsel's assertions that the case was complex, based upon the evidence presented at trial and the fact that counsel declined to cross-examine the majority of the State's witnesses. Appellant's Opening Brief at 17. However, the attorney who represented Thompson at trial was not the same one who requested continuances based upon complexity. Further, the original attorney never claimed that there were complicated legal

issues. He was concerned because of the sheer number of witnesses and the volume of evidence, in addition to the fact that Thompson was charged with several class A felonies and was looking at an enormous amount of prison time. 01/28/13 RP 4-5; 07/08/13 RP 5-6, 8-9. It is not unreasonable for defense counsel to need a significant amount of time and effort to analyze the evidence, formulate strategy, interview witnesses, and, apparently, deal with an obstreperous client. The court did not abuse its discretion in continuing the trial dates. Even if it had, Thompson suffered no prejudice as a result and dismissal is not a remedy absent prejudice. Hall, 55 Wn. App. at 841.

2 The court correctly denied Thompson's motion to dismiss based upon CrR 8.3 because he failed to prove that the State interfered with his confidential communications with his attorney. Even if there had been such interference, there was no prejudice.

Thompson brought a pretrial motion to dismiss the charges against him, pursuant to CrR 8.3, on the basis that the State had wrongfully confiscated two pages of a letter he had written to his then-attorney, Patrick O'Connor, and further that not only had the State gained access to information about his trial strategy, but he was forced to cease written communications with his attorney for

fear that such communications would not be confidential. CP 212-14; 01/13/14 RP.

A hearing was held regarding this motion on January 13, 2014. Thompson presented evidence from other inmates and by his own testimony that a search of the cell block in which Thompson was housed occurred in March of 2013. 01/13/14 RP 5, 25, 30, 45. The inmates were removed to a recreation area while the search occurred and did not see any part of the search. 01/13/14 RP 31, 37, 46, 52. Thompson claimed that when the inmates were returned to their cells following the search he found that a manila envelope, which he had sealed and marked as legal mail, had been opened. 01/13/14 RP 46-48. He said it contained a four-page letter to his attorney, Patrick O'Connor, and that two pages of the letter were missing. 01/13/14 RP 46. He immediately informed a corrections officer about the missing pages and filed a grievance, but nothing came of it and the pages were never returned. 01/13/14 RP 49-50. Thompson said he did communicate with O'Connor for the remainder of the time that O'Connor represented him, both face-to-face and by mail, but he did not discuss trial strategy in the written material after the search. 01/13/14 RP 51-52.

Another inmate, Larry Corbin, testified that he was an inmate at the time of the search but since then had overdosed on drugs and remembered virtually nothing about the search. Corbin said he saw corrections officers reading seized papers; he was not positive he was recalling that specific search, but even if it were, he did not know what papers the jail personnel were reading. 01/13/14 RP 6-8, 15-16.

A cell mate of Thompson's, Jesse Lee Harkcom, also testified. He said that he was "pretty sure" that Thompson had marked an envelope as legal mail. 01/13/14 RP 34. He did not see any corrections officer reading any of Thompson's papers. 01/13/14 RP 36. He was positive that the envelope was sealed when the inmates were removed prior to the search. He had helped Thompson prepare the document the night before and while he didn't read it before Thompson sealed it in the envelope, he was sure it was the same document. 01/13/14 RP 35, 41.

Two corrections officers testified for the State. Sgt. Teresa Becker said that searches of the living units in the jail were done regularly and routinely. 01/13/14 RP 57-58. During these searches sealed envelopes will be opened even if they are marked as legal mail to prevent inmates from putting contraband in such envelopes

before the search and retrieving it following the search. 01/13/14 RP 64-66. The officers scan the contents of the envelopes and if the material appears to be legitimate legal material, it is left in the cell. 01/13/14 RP 67-68, 71, 73. If legal papers were confiscated for any reason, a report would be written to document where they went and why they went there. 01/13/14 RP 68. Becker did not search Thompson's cell and was never able to determine who did. The jail does not keep records of which officer searches which cells. No reports were written concerning the search of Thompson's cell. 01/13/14 RP 68-69, 77. Becker did search another inmate's cell, where she located a large stack of papers containing song lyrics, which inmates are not allowed to have. She took them to a table in the day room in the central unit where anyone in the cells could see her, and reviewed them. 01/13/14 RP 69-70. Harkcom had testified that Becker had papers in her hand when the inmates returned to their cells following the search, seeming to infer that she was holding the papers that Thompson claimed were missing. 01/13/14 RP 44.

Corrections Officer Corey Luck also testified for the State.

He said that searches are done randomly and no log is kept of who searches what cells. 01/13/14 RP 87. Luck did not search

Thompson's cell and didn't know who did. 01/13/14 RP 88-89. He recalled Thompson complaining that he was missing some legal mail the day of the search and filing a later grievance; Luck recalled it because it was unusual. He'd never heard of that kind of complaint before. 01/13/14 RP 90-91.

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